OA 10-2-84

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

RANDY MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 65,839

SID J. WHITE SEP 20 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

PUBLICKER INDUSTRIES, INC., and PUBLICKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION,

Appellee,

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Appellant,

vs.

JUAN GRANADOS,

Appellee,

RANDY MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

INTERNOOR TRADE, INC.,

Appellee.

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOSEPH C. MELLICHAMP, III ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case concerns the constitutionality of Florida's tax exemption for gasohol blended with ethyl alcohol which is distilled from United States agricultural products or by-products. The Florida legislature has provided that each gallon of such gasohol sold in Florida is exempt from four cents of the tax of five cents per gallon generally imposed on the sale of motor fuel in Florida. Fla.Stat. §212.63 (1984 Supp.); Ch. 84-353, Laws of Florida. Gasohol is made by blending fuel-grade ethyl alcohol with unleaded gasoline, ordinarily in proportions of one part ethyl alcohol to nine parts unleaded gasoline. The trial court held that Ch. 84-353, Laws of Florida, for indirect reasons, was unconstitutional.

- B. Legal and Factual Background
- 1. The Evolution of Florida's Sales Tax Exemption for Gasohol

In 1980, the Florida legislature initially enacted a tax exemption for gasohol. Fla.Stat. §206.415 (1981). The statute exempted each gallon of gasohol from the entire \$.04 tax on motor fuel. The full exemption was to remain in effect through June 30, 1984. Beginning on July 1, 1985, gasohol was to be exempt from \$.02 of the \$.04 tax; and on

July 1, 1987, the exemption was to be removed. When the tax on motor fuel and special fuel was increased in 1983, the Florida legislature retained a \$.04 per gallon exemption for gasohol, to be reduced to a \$.02 exemption beginning on July 1, 1985. Fla.Stat. §212.63 (1984 Supp.).

The objective of the tax exemption was to reduce dependence on foreign sources of fuel, which had been cut off at the time of the Arab oil embargo and which it was feared might be cut off again. As an analysis prepared by the staff of the House Select Committee on Energy explained, "[a] predicted tightening of non-renewable fuel supplies and unpredictable geo-political events makes imperative the encouragement of alternative fuel sources." Staff Analysis, House Select Committee on Energy, Feb. 8, 1980. Legislature contemplated that the exemption would encourage use of gasohol, thereby diminishing reliance on imported The Legislature recognized that dependence on foreign fuel would be particularly dangerous for Florida, since the State's tourism industry -- a critical part of the State's economy -- depends heavily on the ready availability of motor fuel and thus would be seriously damaged by a fuel shortage. (R-512, 480)

The recent amendment to the statute, which took effect on July 1, 1984, retained the exemption for gasohol, but limited the exemption to "motor fuel which contains a minimum of 10 percent blend by volume of ethyl alcohol which is distilled from U.S. agricultural products or

by-products with a purity of 99 percent." The object of the amendment was to ensure that the tax exemption served its original purpose: to reduce dependence on foreign sources of fuel that experience had shown to be unreliable. Experience with the original statute had demonstrated that it failed to eliminate Florida's dependence on foreign fuel supplies. As a result of a variety of factors, the majority of the gasohol consumed in Florida contained imported ethyl alcohol. (R- 289, 329, 352)

In a further effort to avoid the continuing and increasing dependence on foreign sources of fuel -- with the resulting susceptibility to unpredictable interruptions caused by world tensions -- the Florida legislature limited the tax exemption to "motor fuel which contains a minimum of 10 percent blend by volume of ethyl alcohol which is distilled from U.S. agricultural products or by-products with a purity of 99 percent." Gasohol containing imported ethyl alcohol can of course still be sold in Florida; the only change is that such gasohol is now subject to the same tax as other motor fuels.

2. Federal Treatment of Imported Ethyl Alcohol

During the last several years, the federal tariff on ethyl alcohol imported for use in fuel has increased substantially. Pursuant to §1161 of the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1980, 94 Stat. 2599, Pub. L. No. 96-499, the tariff on imported ethyl alcohol was increased from \$.10 per gallon to \$.20 per gallon effective January 1, 1982, and to \$.40 per gallon effective January 1, 1983. The tariff on imported ethyl alcohol was raised again, from \$.40 to \$.50 per gallon on April 1, 1983, by §511(d)(5) of the Surface Transportation Act of 1982, 96 Stat. 2197, Pub. L. No. 97-424. Section 912 of the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984, Pub. L. No. 98-369 (1984), will increase the tariff to \$.60 per gallon effective January 1, 1985.

Section 232 of the Crude Oil Windfall Profit Tax Act of 1980, 94 Stat. 229, Pub. L. No. 96-223, exempted gasoline containing at least 10% alcohol from the \$.04 per gallon federal excise tax on gasoline. On April 1, 1983, the federal excise tax on gasoline was increased from \$.04 to \$.09 per gallon, and gasoline containing at least 10% alcohol was exempted from \$.05 per gallon of the increased tax. Surface Transportation Act of 1982, \$511(d)(1)(A). The exemption for gasohol will be increased to \$.06 per gallon as of January 1, 1985, by \$912 of the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984.

As evidenced by the Congressional Record (R- 196-206), it was not the intent of Congress that foreign produced alcohol benefit from the exemption from federal excise tax granted to gasohol. The Congressional Record is replete with evidence to the effect that (1) the purpose of the federal excise exemption was to provide the encouragement for the development of a domestic gasohol industry; (2) that the United States does not need to replace its dependence on OPEC oil with a dependence on foreign alcohol; and (3) that in the first seven months of 1980 there had been a threefold increase over the gallons imported in 1979 and if that current rate was permitted to continue, imports could equal 50% of the total domestic consumption for 1980.

During the time period 1981 through 1984, ethyl alcohol imports to the United States have jumped sharply and have remained at very high levels. Brazilian sales account for virtually all of the imports to the United States and they too have risen dramatically. (R- 342, 477)

In spite of the increasing federal tariffs for each of the last four years the volume of ethyl alcohol exported from Brazil has also increased. (R- 478) Moreover, as federal tariffs increase, the landed price of Brazilian ethyl alcohol has <u>decreased</u> over the past four year period. (R- 479)

Brazil's willingness and ability to reduce the price of its product can be ascribed to a number of factors. First, there is strong evidence that Brazil is subsidizing its ethyl alcohol industry, so that the price of those exports does not reflect a free market. Second, the value of the Brazilian cruzeiro has dropped dramatically relative to the American dollar, with the result that a sharply reduced price for Brazilian ethyl alcohol in American dollars may still be a profitable sale from the standpoint of the Brazilian producer. Third, Brazil reportedly has excess ethyl alcohol production capacity, which is a strong incentive to pursue the American market. (R- 348, 358, 359)

C. Course of the Proceedings

Appellees, Publicker, Granados, and Internoor Trade,
Inc., brought 3 separate actions challenging Chapter 84-353,
Laws of Florida under the Import-Export Clause and the
Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution.
Internoor also challenged the title to Chapter 84-353, Laws
of Florida as being in violation of Art. III, §6, Florida
Constitution. The Plaintiffs therein sought a declaratory
judgment that Ch. 84-353 is unconstitutional and an
injunction barring the Florida Department of Revenue from
applying the full state sales tax on motor fuel to gasohol
blended with ethyl alcohol which is not distilled from U.S.
agricultural products or by-products. The cases were
consolidated. (R-504-505)

The Department of Revenue contested the standing of all plaintiffs to challenge Chapter 84-353, asserting that a tax may be challenged only by those who are required to pay it and that plaintiffs' alleged injuries were indirect and speculative. On the merits, the Department of Revenue contended that Chapter 84-353 did not violate either the Import-Export Clause or the Commerce Clause. NCGA filed a brief as amicus curiae in support of the Department's positions on both standing and the merits.

A final hearing was held in the trial court on July 30, 1984, at which the trial court permitted the plaintiffs to present evidence purporting to establish their standing despite the fact that they are not required to pay the challenged tax. Gerald M. Tierney, Jr., a Publicker executive, testified that Publicker imports ethyl alcohol from Brazil, denatures the ethyl alcohol at its facility in Tampa, and sells the denatured ethyl alcohol to firms that blend it with unleaded gasoline to make gasohol, which is eventually sold to consumers. (R- 302, 306)

Paul C. McDaniel, vice president of Publicker's petroleum products division, testified that, prior to the enactment of Chapter 84-353, Publicker had purchased ethyl alcohol from Brazil for approximately \$1.42 per gallon, including the federal tariff of 50 cents per gallon, and after denaturing the ethyl alcohol, had sold it to blenders

for \$1.56 per gallon. (R- 308) McDaniel testified that after Chapter 84-353 went into effect on July 1, 1984, blenders who had previously purchased ethyl alcohol from Publicker called him to inquire as to whether gasohol blended from Publicker's ethyl alcohol would continue to qualify for the state tax exemption for gasohol. (R- 309) These individuals told McDaniel that if gasohol blended with Publicker's ethyl alcohol did not qualify for the tax exemption, they would only be willing to pay Publicker \$1.16 per gallon, rather than \$1.56 per gallon. (R- 314-15)

McDaniel testified that Publicker had consequently stopped purchasing ethyl alcohol from Brazil. (R- 320) He explained that he had "not made an attempt to purchase imported [ethyl alcohol] because of the current standing of the Florida law," which he believed would have prevented Publicker from selling imported ethyl alcohol at the price that it would have had to pay for it. (R- 320)

Plaintiff Granados testified that he is a broker who has arranged sales between Brazilian exporters of ethyl alcohol and American importers such as Publicker. (R- 279, 281) Prior to the enactment of Chapter 84-353 he had arranged for the sale of Brazilian ethyl alcohol at the price of 92 cents per gallon, exclusive of the federal tariff of 50 cents per gallon. (R- 287) To continue to offer Brazilian ethyl alcohol to prospective purchasers in

Florida after the enactment of Chapter 84-353, he said he would have to find a Brazilian exporter willing to compensate for the 40 cents per gallon that a prospective purchaser would have to pay in state sales tax upon selling gasohol made from the ethyl alcohol. (R- 186-87) Granados testified that he had been unable to find a Brazilian exporter willing to sell ethyl alcohol at that price. (R-287)

The Department of Revenue sought dismissal of plaintiffs' actions for lack of standing, stressing that plaintiffs are not required to pay the tax at issue. Department urged that the tax can only be challenged by those parties required to pay it. The Department also presented evidence illustrating the indirect and speculative nature of the injuries alleged by plaintiffs. Frederick L. Potter, the President of Information Resources Incorporated and an expert in the marketing of fuel-grade ethyl alcohol, testified that during the period from 1980 to 1984, the quantity of ethyl alcohol imported from Brazil had increased even though the federal tariffs on imported ethyl alcohol had jumped from \$.10 to \$.50 during that period. 343-44, 477-78) Mr. Potter explained that the volume of ethyl alcohol imported from Brazil had increased because Brazilian exporters had reduced their prices, thereby offsetting the sharp increases in the federal tariff. 347-48, 369, 479) The Department of Revenue argued that the plaintiffs would suffer no injury if Brazilian exporters

again reduced their prices.

The trial court rendered its decision on August 22, 1984. The court began by holding that the plaintiffs had standing to challenge the constitutionality of Chapter 84-353 even though they are not required to collect, remit or pay the tax at issue. (R- 515) The court found that the adoption of Chapter 84-353 would have an adverse effect on plaintiffs and that this was sufficient to establish their standing. (R- 515)

On the merits, the court concluded that Chapter 84-353 did not violate the title requirements of Art. III, §6, Florida Constitution. (R- 515-17) However, the court concluded that Chapter 84-353 violates both the Import-Export Clause and the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. Although the court recognized that Florida's fuel tax is not assessed against imported ethyl alcohol, it concluded that the tax nevertheless constituted an impost on imported ethyl alcohol because of the indirect impact of the tax on importers of ethyl alcohol. In reaching this conclusion, the trial court erred in relying chiefly on Michelin Tire Corp. v. Wages, 423 U.S. 276 (1976), which it interpreted to shift "analysis away from the question of whether an item is an import to the question of whether the tax imposed is an 'impost or duty.'" (R- 519) The trial court also ruled that Chapter 84-353 violates the Commerce Clause, rejecting the contention of

Association that the disparate treatment of imported and domestically produced ethyl alcohol is justified by the particular susceptibility of the supply of imported ethyl alcohol to interruptions caused by unpredictable political events. The court stressed that "economic protectionism is just that whether the tourist industry or the local ethyl alcohol production industry is sought to be protected." (R-523) The court also found that the Department of Revenue had failed to show that non-discriminatory alternative means of achieving the State's objectives were unavailable. (R-524)

The trial court declared Chapter 84-353 unconstitutional, ordered the words "which is distilled from U.S. agricultural products or by-products" stricken from Florida's exemption for gasohol, and permanently enjoined the Department of Revenue from collecting four cents per gallon of the state fuel tax with respect to sales of gasohol blended with ethyl alcohol not distilled from United States agricultural products or by-products. (R- 524, 528-29) The Court entered an Order correcting a clerical error in the Final Judgment on August 28, 1984. (R- 528-529)

On August 31, 1984, the Department of Revenue filed a notice of appeal to the District Court of Appeal for the First District. (R- 530-31) On September 13, 1984, the District Court of Appeal certified the case to this Court.

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLEES HAD STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF CHAPTER 84-353, LAWS OF FLORIDA

It is the Appellants' position that the Appellees lack the requisite standing to challenge the constitutionality of the taxing statute at issue and this Court need not and should not reach the merits of the constitutional issues decided below. The Appellees herein are not the taxpayers obligated to pay the tax they allege to be unconstitutional. The taxes imposed pursuant to Chapter 212, Florida Statutes, are those taxes commonly referred to as sales and use taxes and are taxes imposed for the privilege of engaging in certain businesses. The tax at issue, as the statute expressly states, is "imposed for the privilege of the sale at retail in this state of motor fuel and special fuel" and is levied "upon the ultimate retail consumer." As a matter of administrative convenience, the tax is collected and paid upon the first sale or transfer of motor fuel or special fuel within the state. Sections 212.62(1) and (2)(a), Fla.Stat., Department of Revenue v. Air Jamaica Ltd., 9 F.L.W. 229, 230 (Fla. 1984). None of the Appellees sell motor fuel or special fuel at retail in this state. the Appellees herein collect and remit the state sales tax provided by §212.62, F.S., on the sale of motor fuel or special fuel in Florida. (R- 513) Pure ethyl alcohol is not a motor fuel subject to the tax imposed in §212.62, Fla.Stat.

Appellee, Publicker is engaged in the business of importing foreign source fuel grade ethyl alcohol into the State of Florida and has a receiving and distribution facility for such alcohol in Tampa, Florida. It sells the imported foreign source ethyl alcohol to distributors of gasohol. These distributors, not Publicker, blend gasoline and alcohol to produce gasohol for distribution and sale in this state. It is the distributor, i.e., Publicker's buyer, that is required under the statute at issue to collect and remit the tax. Publicker is not a distributor or a retail dealer of motor fuel in the State and neither collects nor remits any state tax on the sale of motor fuel or more particularly - gasohol to the State of Florida pursuant to Part II, Chapter 212, Fla.Stat. (R-513)

Appellee, Juan Granados is a <u>broker</u> of imported ethyl alcohol, who simply arranges for the sale and purchase of shipments of imported ethyl alcohol to both in-state and out-of-state businesses to be used in the blending of gasohol. He also is <u>not</u> a <u>distributor</u> or <u>retail dealer</u> of motor fuel in the State and <u>neither collects</u> nor <u>remits</u> any <u>state tax on</u> the <u>sale of</u> motor fuel or more particularly - <u>gasohol</u>, to the State of Florida pursuant to Part II, Chapter 212, Fla.Stat. (R- 513)

Appellee, Internoor alleges that it is the U.S. subsidiary of Petrobras which is a refiner, shipper and

producer of ethyl alcohol in Brazil. Internoor also alleges that it markets fuel-grade ethyl alcohol in the State of Florida. No evidence, however, was presented at the final hearing to substantiate these allegations. However, evidence was presented to the effect that Internoor is not registered with the Florida Department of Revenue as a dealer of special fuels or as a distributor of motor fuels. (R-680) Accordingly, like the other two Appellees, Internoor neither collects nor remits any state tax on the sale of gasohol to the State of Florida pursuant to Part II, Chapter 212, Fla.Stat. (R-513)

It is the Appellants' position that due to the uncontroverted fact that the Appellees are not the taxpayers obligated to collect, remit, and/or pay the tax they challenge as being unconstitutional, they lack the requisite standing to challenge the statute at issue. See, State, Dept. of Revenue v. Swinscoe, 376 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1979), wherein this Court held that since the challengers therein would not be subject to the tax imposed by the challenged taxing statute and because the statute in its present form was simply not applicable to the challengers, they lacked standing to constitutionally challenge the prospective application of the statute. See also, State ex. rel. Szabo Food Service, Inc., of North Carolina v. Dickinson, 286 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1973) wherein this Court held that "[o]ne

who does not himself bear the financial burden of a wrongfully extracted tax suffers no loss or injury, and accordingly, would not have standing to demand a refund."

This Court in Szabo noted that the sales tax imposed by Chapter 212, F.S., requires that the tax be collected by the dealer from the purchaser or consumer and thus denied the dealer standing to seek a refund of the sales tax monies collected and remitted to the State. Likewise, the Appellees herein do not and could not suffer the financial burden of the taxing statute at issue and thus lack the requisite standing to challenge the constitutionality of the statutory amendment at issue. The Appellees are not subject to the tax they challenge and the statute is simply not applicable to Appellees.

As previously stated, the taxes imposed pursuant to Chapter 212, F.S., are those taxes commonly referred to as sales and use taxes and are imposed for the privilege of engaging in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail in the State of Florida. This principle has long been recognized and the legal imposition of the tax has been established since 1950 when the law as originally passed was subjected to attack in the case of Gaulden v.

Kirk, 47 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1950). In Gaulden, this Court held that the tax was a privilege tax levied on persons who engage in certain businesses set forth in the statute.

Since the Gaulden case, numerous other cases have reiterated

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