#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDY MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

PUBLICKER INDUSTRIES INC., and PUBLICKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION,

Appellees,

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 65,839

JUAN GRANADOS,

Appellee,

RANDY MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellant,

v.

INTERNOOR TRADE, INC.,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEES PUBLICKER INDUSTRIES INC. AND PUBLICKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION

STEPHEN C. O'CONNELL, ESQ. Of Counsel Cason & Henderson P.O. Box 1695 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-1030

SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM
919 Third Avenue

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

#### ARGUMENT

Ι

THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT PUBLICKER HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA'S FOREIGN-SOURCE ETHYL ALCOHOL TAX

Publicker has standing to challenge the foreignsource ethyl alcohol tax on three separate and independent
grounds: (i) it has suffered injury in fact; (ii) under the
Florida Declaratory Judgment Act its rights were affected by
the statute; and (iii) it is a taxpayer challenging a tax under
a specific state taxing limitation.

# A. Publicker Has Standing Because It Has Suffered Injury In Fact

In Ass'n. of Data Processing Service Org's., Inc. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150 (1970), the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged approach to be used in determining the issue of standing. First, the plaintiff must allege "that the challenged action has caused him injury in fact, economic or otherwise." Id., at 153. Second, the interest sought to be protected by the plaintiff must "arguably [be] within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the . . . constitutional guarantee in question." Id., at 154.

In a recent case on facts almost identical to those at issue here, the United States Supreme Court held that plaintiffs situated similarly to Publicker unquestionably had standing to sue. In Boston Stock Exchange v. State Tax Commission,

429 U.S. 318 (1977), a New York stock transfer tax on non-New York securities transactions diverted business from plaintiffs, non-New York stock exchanges, to New York stock exchanges. The stock transfer tax was to be paid by the individual purchasers and sellers, not by the plaintiff exchanges. The plaintiffs' complaint was that since transactions were thereby diverted from them, their right to engage in interstate commerce free of unconstitutional discriminatory taxes was being interfered with by the tax on its members and customers. Dealing four square with the issue of standing, a unanimous United States Supreme Court held:

This diversion was the express purpose of the challenged statute . . . The allegation establishes that the statute has caused them "injury in fact" and that a case or controversy exists . . . The Exchanges are asserting their right under the Commerce Clause to engage in interstate commerce free of discriminatory taxes on their business and they allege that the transfer tax indirectly infringes on that right. Thus, they are 'arguably within the zone of interests to be protected . . . by the . . . constitutional guarantee in question.'

429 U.S. at 320-21, n.3, quoting Ass'n. of Data Processing

Service Org's., Inc. v. Camp, supra, 397 U.S. at 153 (citations omitted).

Like the plaintiffs in <u>Boston Stock Exchange</u>, Publicker's customers will buy ethyl alcohol elsewhere. It is uncontroverted that immediately after passage of the foreign-source ethyl alcohol tax, all 14 of the blender-distributors to whom Publicker sold in Florida either refused to purchase foreign-source ethyl alcohol from Publicker unless it qualified

for the state tax exemption (R. 310-11), or stated that they would only purchase at a price 40 cents per gallon less than the existing sales price. (R. 311) Publicker could continue to sell foreign-source ethyl alcohol only by offsetting the market price by the amount of the tax. However, if Publicker were to do so, it would lose 26 cents on every gallon of ethyl alcohol it sells. (R. 315)\*

In addition, Publicker was forced to divert incoming ethyl alcohol to ports outside Florida because of uncertainty as to whether such product would qualify for the tax exemption. Thus, Publicker was unable to sell those products in the profitable Florida market and incurred the added cost of shipment to a more distant port. (R. 322)

Moreover, prior to passage of the statute, Publicker was negotiating to expand its operations into new facilities in Orlando, Jacksonville and Port Everglades, Florida. As a result of the passage of the tax, however, those negotiations have been terminated. (R. 323-24) In addition, Publicker must continue to pay rent on its facilities and may be required to undergo the time-consuming process of obtaining new licenses. (R. 302-05)\*\*

<sup>\*</sup> This contrasts with the approximately \$47,040 per month in profit Publicker was able to earn in the three months prior to enactment of the tax. (See R. 309).

<sup>\*\*</sup> Both the State and Corn Growers argue that Publicker's injury is not real and direct but merely speculative and indirect because (i) Publicker's customers might not re(Footnote continued)

Accordingly, there can be no doubt that Publicker has been directly and severly injured by the tax amendment. Publicker -- like the <u>Boston Stock Exchange</u> plaintiffs -- thus has standing because it suffers injury in fact and is within the zone of interests which can challenge the unconstitutional state law. <u>See also McCoy-Elkhorn Coal Corp. v. EPA</u>, 622 F.2d 260 (6th Cir. 1980) (coal company has standing to challenge statute applied to customers which will cause a "constriction of [the company's] market").\* The finding of the court below that Publicker has standing should be affirmed.\*\*

<sup>(</sup>Footnote \*\* continued from previous page)
fuse to buy ethyl alcohol from Publicker and (ii) Publicker's suppliers might offset the new tax by reducing their prices. On the contrary, Publicker's customers have already refused to purchase Publicker's product (R. 311) and there has been no reduction in the price of Brazilian ethyl alcohol. (R. 280, 326-27) The record clearly establishes that Publicker has already been forced out of business by the operation of the foreign-source ethyl alcohol amendment.

<sup>\*</sup> In this regard, Publicker is in much the same position as a party who, though liable for a tax, is able to pass the tax along to its customers. In <a href="Bacchus Imports">Bacchus Imports</a>, Ltd. v. <a href="Dias">Dias</a>, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 104 S. Ct. 3049, 3054 (1984), the United States Supreme Court upheld the standing of such a party, stating: "even if the tax is completely and successfully passed on, it increases the price of their products as compared to the exempted beverages, and the wholesalers are surely entitled to litigate whether the discriminatory tax has had an adverse competitive impact on their business. The wholesalers plainly have standing to challenge the tax in this Court." (footnote omitted)

<sup>\*\*</sup> Both the State and Corn Growers completely ignore Boston Stock Exchange despite its striking similarity to this case. Instead, they cite cases readily distinguishable on their facts. For example, in Simon v. Eastern Kentucky Welfare Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26 (1976), the plaintiffs were unable to demonstrate that their alleged injury in (Footnote continued)

B. Publicker Has Standing To Challenge The Constitutionality of The Foreign-Source Ethyl Alcohol Tax Under The Florida Declaratory Judgment Statute

The Florida Declaratory Judgment Statute, Fla. Stat.

Ann. § 86.021 (West 1984), provides Publicker a further basis on which to bring this action. It states:

Any person . . . whose rights, status, or other equitable or legal relations are affected by a statute . . . may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under such statute

(Footnote \*\* continued from previous page)
fact resulted from the challenged federal action since
they could not establish that they were denied services by
hospitals as a result of the challenged regulations. In
contrast, there can be no question but that Publicker has
demonstrated that it has been severely harmed by the direct operation of the Florida foreign-source ethyl alcohol
tax.

State ex rel. Szabo Food Serv., Inc. of N.C. v. Dickinson, 286 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1973), holds merely that one who has not paid a wrongful tax does not have standing to demand a refund of tax payments made by others. Clearly, Publicker is not demanding any refunds of the foreign-source ethyl alcohol taxes paid by the distributors who purchase its ethyl alcohol. In State Department of Revenue v. Swinscoe, 376 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1979), the Court determined that since the challenged tax statute could not be applied to plaintiffs, the plaintiffs suffered no injury whatsoever. Thus, the Court held, plaintiffs lacked standing to challenge a tax which did not affect them. Contrary to the State's assertion, none of the cases it cites stands for the proposition that the only party with standing to challenge a tax is the party obligated to pay the tax.

Finally, both the State and Corn Growers rely heavily upon Ex-Cell-O Corp. v. City of Chicago, 115 F.2d 627 (7th Cir. 1940). However, such reliance is misplaced because, as indicated by the more recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court, the standing test expressed in Ex-Cell-O Corp. is no longer employed by the courts. Wimber-ly v. Ettenberg, 570 P.2d 535, 537-38 (Colo. 1977) citing, e.g., Ass'n. of Data Processing Service Org's., Inc. v. Camp, supra.

. . . or any part thereof, and obtain a declaration of rights, status or other equitable or legal relations thereunder.

#### Id. (emphasis added)

Publicker has been driven out of the importation business by the operation of the foreign-source ethyl alcohol tax. Thus, there can be no doubt that its 'rights, status, or other equitable or legal relations' have been affected by the tax amendement.

In Archer Daniels Midland v. McNamara, 544 F. Supp. 99 (M.D. La. 1982), the plaintiff, a producer of ethyl alcohol for use in gasohol, sought to challenge in federal court the constitutionality of a Louisiana statute that imposed a tax on the retail sale of gasohol and contained exemptions only for gasohol made with ethyl alcohol distilled in Louisiana from Louisiana grown agricultural products. The federal court ruled that the Tax Injunction Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1341, precluded the plaintiff producer, who did not have to pay the challenged tax, from maintaining the action in federal court "where a plain, speedy and efficient remedy may be had in the [State] courts."

Id., at 101. The court found, however, that the Louisiana Declaratory Judgment Statute, which is virtually identical to the Florida Act,\* afforded plaintiff a plain, speedy and effi-

<sup>\*</sup> The Louisiana Declaratory Judgment Statute provides:

A person . . . whose rights, status, or other legal relations are affected by a statute . . . may have determined any question of construction or va(Footnote continued)

cient means to challenge the constitutionality of the tax in the state court.

Here, Publicker is in a position identical to the plaintiff in McNamara. The Florida Declaratory Judgment Statute clearly affords Publicker the requisite standing to challenge the constitutionality of the foreign-source ethyl alcohol tax in the courts of the State of Florida since Publicker has been affected thereby. Accordingly, for this additional reason, Publicker has standing to seek redress to invalidate the tax amendment which has caused it such grievous injury.

C. Injury In Fact Is Unnecessary For Standing Where There Is A Constitutional Challenge To A State Taxing Limitation

In any event, under well-established Florida law no showing of special injury is required at all where a taxpayer challenges the constitutionality of a state tax statute based upon constitutional limitations on the state's taxing power.

Dep't. of Administration v. Horne, 269 So.2d 659, 662 (Fla. 1972) (taxpayers had standing to challenge state appropriations statute that contravened state constitutional restrictions on taxing and spending legislation). See also, Dep't. of Educa-

<sup>(</sup>Footnote \* continued from previous page)
lidity arising under the . . . statute . . . and
obtain a declaration of rights, status, or other
legal relations thereunder.

Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure, Article 1871.

tion v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455, 459 (Fla. 1982) (notwithstanding failure to allege special injury, taxpayers had standing to attack state tax that allegedly violated United States Constitution).

Under Florida law, the taxpayer need only demonstrate that a specific constitutional limitation on the taxing or spending power has been violated:

A taxpayer may institute such a suit without a showing of special injury if he attacks the exercise of the state or county's taxing or spending authority on the ground that it exceeds specific limitations imposed on the state or county's taxing or spending power by the United States Constitution or the Florida Constitution. Notwithstanding the danger of increased taxpayer suits, we perceive this exception to be based on our fundamental belief that such an unconstitutional exercise of the taxing and spending power is intolerable in our system of government and that the courts should be readily available to immediately restrain such excesses of authority.

Paul v. Blake, 376 So.2d 256, 259 (3d Fla. DCA 1979) (citations omitted) (taxpayers had standing to challenge tax exemptions given to certain leasehold interests as violative of specific limitations on county's taxing authority found in Florida Constitution).

\* \* \*

In this case, Publicker seeks to enjoin the foreignsource ethyl alcohol tax as violative of the limitations on
state taxing powers derived from the Import-Export and Commerce
Clauses of the United States Constitution. The statute was
intended to, and does, prevent the importation of foreign-

source ethyl alcohol and thus has driven Publicker out of business. For all of the foregoing reasons, Publicker has standing to challenge the constitutionality of Florida's foreign-source ethyl alcohol tax.

ΙI

THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT FLORIDA'S FOREIGN-SOURCE ETHYL ALCOHOL TAX VIOLATES THE IMPORT-EXPORT CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

The Import-Export Clause, Article I, Section 10, clause 2, of the United States Constitution, provides:

No State shall, without the Consent of the Congress, lay any Imposts or Duties on Imports or Exports, except what may be absolutely necessary for executing its Inspection Laws. . .

(emphasis added) The provision is fundamental to our federal system which confides in the federal government, and not the states, the power to determine foreign economic policy. Michelin Tire Corp. v. Wages, 423 U.S. 276, 283-285 (1976).

The language of the Import-Export Clause is absolute and unequivocal. It leaves no room for exceptions save those enumerated. By selectively eliminating the tax exemption for gasohol containing foreign-source -- but not domestic-source -- ethyl alcohol, Florida has imposed a tax on foreign-source ethyl alcohol solely because of its foreign origins. That is precisely what the Import-Export Clause prohibits.

As the Circuit Court held, the Florida foreign-source ethyl alcohol tax "presents a hornbook example of a state doing

by indirection what the Export-Import Clause forbids it to do directly." (R. 518)\*

The State and the Corn Growers assert that merely because Florida structured the tax so that it falls on gasohol containing foreign-source ethyl alcohol rather than on the imported ethyl alcohol itself, the Import-Export Clause has no application. They argue that the imported ethyl alcohol is no longer an import, but has become a part of the general mass of property in the state and thus is beyond the reach of the Import-Export Clause. (State Br. 25-6; Corn Growers Br. 20-1) This analysis, however, is based on a theory which has recently been specifically rejected by the United States Supreme Court.

That the tax is not on the act of importation, but rather on the sale in Florida of gasohol containing foreignsource ethyl alcohol, does not alter the fact that Florida's tax is in reality a tax on foreign-source ethyl alcohol itself. A tax on a good solely because of its foreign component is in reality a tax on that component, just as a tax on the sale of an import is a tax on the import itself, Richfield Oil Corp. v. State Board, 329 U.S. 69 (1946), a license fee charged only to importers is a tax on the articles imported, <u>Brown v. Maryland</u>, 25 U.S. (12 Wheat.) 419 (1827), and "rent" charged for the leasing of state-owned tidelands but computed by the volume of oil in interstate and foreign commerce passing over the leased property is in reality a tax on the oil, Western Oil and Gas Ass'n. v. Cory, 726 F.2d 1340, 1346 (9th Cir. 1984). States cannot be allowed to do by indirection what the Constitution prohibits them from doing directly. Western Oil and Gas Ass'n., supra, at 1346. The State's characterization of the tax as a 'privilege' tax is irrelevant. The practical effects of the tax determine whether it passes constitutional scrutiny. See, e.g., Richfield Oil Corp. v. State Board, 329 U.S. 69, 84 (1946).

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